#### **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

#### BETWEEN

## CONSTELLATION BRANDS CANADA INC. (carrying on business as "Wine Rack") OF THE FIRST PART

- and -

# SEIU Local 2 on, BREWERY GENERAL & PROFESSIONAL WORKERS' UNION (hereinafter called the "Union") OF THE SECOND PART

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE	<u>PAGE</u>
Article 1	Recognition1
Article 2	Relationship1
Article 3	Management Rights1
Article 4	Union Committee
Article 5	Grievance Procedure       2         Step 1       2         Step 2       2         Step 3       3
Article 6	Arbitrations
Article 7	Management Grievances
Article 8	Discharge and Discipline Cases
Article 9	No Strikes / Lockouts4
Article 10	Wages5
Article 11	Hours of Work and Overtime6
Article 12	Vacations with Pay6
Article 13	Holidays7
Article 14	Seniority8
Article 15	General10
Article 16	Employee Benefits
Article 17	Understanding12
Article 18	Clothing13
Article 19	Termination13

Schedule "B"	Statement of Understanding	14
Schedule "C"	Statement of Understanding Re: Store Staffing	15
Letter of Intent #1.		16
Letter of Intent #2.		17
Letter of Understan	ding	18
	Re: Part Time Employee Hours of Work	18
	Section A	18
	Section B	
Letter of Understan	ding	20
	Re: Part Time Employees Transfer	20
Letter of Understan	ding	21
	Re: Health & Safety	21

#### **ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION**

- 1.01 The Company recognizes the Union as the sole collective bargaining agency for all its employees employed at all its retail stores in Metropolitan Toronto, save and except Store Managers and persons above the rank of Store Managers.
- 1.02 The term "employee" as used in this Agreement shall mean those persons described in the bargaining unit set forth in clause 1.01.
- 1.03 The Term "part-time employee" as used in this Agreement shall mean an employee who is not regularly employed for more than twenty-four (24) hours per week.

#### **ARTICLE 2 - RELATIONSHIP**

- 2.01 During the lifetime of this Agreement, the Company shall deduct from the pay of all employees covered by this Agreement on the last pay day of each calendar month, a sum equivalent to the regular monthly Union dues including arrears in dues and initiation fees and shall remit same prior to the 15<sup>th</sup> day the month following the month on which the deduction is made to the Treasurer of the Local Union. The said sum shall be accepted by the Union as the regular monthly dues of those employees who are or shall become members of the Union and shall be treated as their contribution towards the expenses of maintaining the Union.
- 2.02 All persons who, after the date of this Agreement, become employees covered by this Agreement, shall immediately upon the expiration of their probationary period become and remain members in good standing of the Union as a condition of employment.

#### **ARTICLE 3 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

- 3.01 The Union recognizes and acknowledges that the management of the Company's enterprise and direction of the working force are fixed exclusively in the Company and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, the Union acknowledges that it is the exclusive function of the Company to:
  - (a) maintain order and efficiency;
  - (b) hire, promote, demote, classify, transfer, suspend and retire employees at normal retirement age, and to discipline or discharge any non-probationary employee for just cause provided that a claim by a non-probationary employee that he/she has been discharged or disciplined without just cause maybe the subject of a grievance and dealt with as hereinafter provided;
  - (c) make, enforce and alter, from time to time, reasonable rules and regulations to be observed by the employees;

- (d) determine the nature and kind of business conducted by the Company, the kinds and locations of stores, equipment and material to be used, the methods and techniques of work, the content of jobs, the schedules of work, the number of employees to be employed, the extension, limitations, curtailment or cessation of operations or any part thereof, and to determine and exercise all other functions and prerogatives which shall remain solely with the Company except as limited by the provisions of this Agreement.
- 3.02 The Company agrees that none of the functions set forth in this Article will be exercised in a manner inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 4 – UNION COMMITTEE**

4.01 The Company acknowledges the right of the Union to appoint or otherwise select a union committee which shall be composed of one steward from each store. All stewards shall have completed the probationary period. The name of each of the stewards and name of the Chairman of the Union committee, who shall be one of the said stewards, from time to time selected, shall be given to the Company in writing and the Company shall not be required to recognize any such steward or Chairman until it has been so notified.

#### **ARTICLE 5 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

- 5.01 The parties to this Agreement are agreed that it is of the utmost importance to adjust complaints and grievances concerning the interpretation or alleged violation of the Agreement as quickly as possible.
- 5.02 No grievances shall be considered where it is filed more than five full working days after an employee became aware of the occurrence of the circumstances giving rise thereto.
- 5.03 Grievances properly arising under this Agreement shall be adjusted and settled as follows:
  - STEP 1: The aggrieved employee shall present his/her grievance orally or in writing to the Store Manager. The employee shall have the assistance of a steward if so desired. The Store Manager shall give a decision within one working day following the presentation of the grievance. If the Store Manager's decision is not satisfactory to the employee concerned, then the grievance may be presented as follows:
  - STEP 2: Within two working days after the decision is given at Step No. 1, the aggrieved employee may, with a steward, present the grievance which shall be reduced to writing on a form supplied by the Union to the Area Manager who will consider it in the presence of the person or persons presenting same and render a decision in writing within two working days following the presentation of the grievance. If a settlement satisfactory to

the employee concerned is not reached, then the grievance may be presented as follows:

Within two working days after the decision is given under Step No. 2, the aggrieved employee may submit the grievance to the General Manager. Wine Rack, and the employee, accompanied by the Chairman of the Union Committee, shall meet as promptly as possible with such persons as management may desire to consider the grievance. At this stage they may be accompanied by a full time representative of the Union if requested by either party.

The General Manager, Wine Rack, will render a decision in writing within ten (10) calendar days following such a meeting.

- 5.04 If a final settlement of the grievance is not reached at Step No. 3, and if the grievance is one which concerns the interpretation or alleged violation of the Agreement, then the grievance may be referred in writing by either party to an Arbitrator as provided in Article 6 below at any time within ten (10) working days after the decision is given under Step No. 3 and if no such written request for arbitration is received within the time limit, then it shall be deemed to have been abandoned.
- 5.05 For the purpose of Articles 5, 6 and 7 "Working Days" shall be deemed not to include Saturdays, Sundays or Holidays.
- 5.06 Grievances may be filed and referred to the next step in the grievance procedure set out above by email transmission. Grievances may also be referred to arbitration after the conclusion of the grievance procedure by email transmission. Grievance replies may also be delivered by email transmission to the Union business agent. The Company shall be responsible for providing the email addresses for all Company officials designated in the Collective Agreement and the Union shall have a similar responsibility with respect to the email address for the designated business agent.

#### **ARTICLE 6 - ARBITRATIONS**

- 6.01 Both parties to this Agreement agree that any dispute or grievance concerning the interpretation or alleged violation of this Agreement, which has been properly carried through all the steps of the grievance procedure outlined in Article 5 above, and which has not been settled, will be referred to an Arbitrator, at the written request of either of the parties hereto.
- 6.02 Within five working days of the request by either party for an Arbitrator, each party shall propose in writing a name to act as Arbitrator.
- 6.03 Should the Company and the Union fail to agree on a person to act as Arbitrator within seven (7) working days of the notification mentioned in 6.02 above, the Minister of Labour of the Province of Ontario may be asked to nominate a person to act as Arbitrator at any time thereafter.

- 6.04 The decision of an Arbitrator, elected in the above manner, shall be final and binding on both parties.
- 6.05 The Arbitrator shall not have any power to alter or change any of the provisions of this Agreement or to substitute any new provisions for any existing provisions, nor to give any decision inconsistent with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.
- 6.06 Each of the parties to this Agreement will bear the expenses of the Arbitrator.

#### ARTICLE 7 – MANAGEMENT GRIEVANCES

7.01 Any grievance instituted by management may, within five full working days of the occurrence of the circumstances giving rise to the grievance, be referred in writing to the Chairman of the Union Committee who shall meet within two working days thereafter with management to consider the grievance. If final settlement of the grievance is not completed within five working days of such meeting, the grievance may be referred, by either party, to an Arbitrator as provided in Article 6 at any time within ten calendar days thereafter, but not later.

#### ARTICLE 8 – DISCHARGE AND DISCIPLINE CASES

8.01 A claim by an employee who has completed the probationary period that he/she has been discharged without just cause shall be treated as a grievance if a written statement of such grievance is lodged with the Area Manager at Step No. 2 of the grievance procedure within three (3) working days after the employee ceases working for the Company.

Such special grievances may be settled by:

- (a) confirming the Management's action in dismissing the employee; or
- (b) reinstating the employee with full compensation for time lost; or
- (c) any other arrangement which is just and equitable in the opinion of the conferring parties or the Arbitrator.
- 8.02 When an employee has been dismissed without notice, the employee shall be provided with the name and email contact address for the Union business agent.

#### ARTICLE 9 – NO STRIKES/LOCKOUTS

9.01 In view of the orderly procedures established by this Agreement for the settling of disputes and the handling of grievances, the Union agrees that, during the life of this Agreement, there will be no strike (as defined in the *Ontario Labour Relations Act*) or picketing, and the Company agrees that there will be no lockout (as defined in the *Ontario Labour Relations Act*).

- 9.02 Employees should be aware that the Company has the right to discharge or otherwise discipline employees who take part in or instigate any such strike or picketing, but a claim of unjust discharge of discipline may be the subject of a grievance and dealt with as provided in Article 5 above.
- 9.03 Should the Union claim that a cessation of work constitutes a lockout, it may treat the matter as a grievance which shall be instituted at Step No. 2 of the grievance procedure.

#### **ARTICLE 10 WAGES**

- 10.01 The minimum starting hourly wage rate for newly hired employees will be \$10.50.
- 10.02 Employees who have completed their probationary period shall have their job performance assessed against the Company's Performance Rating Scale on an annual basis.
- 10.03 In June each year, employees will be eligible for a wage rate increase based on their performance rating. The wage increases shall be as follows:

Rating	2013 Increase Per Hour	2014 Increase Per Hour	2015 Increase Per Hour
Unsuccessful (1)	\$.00	\$.00	\$.00
Inconsistent (2)	\$.00	\$.00	\$.00
Successful (3)	\$.20	\$.20	\$.20
High (4)	\$.30	\$.30	\$.30
Exceptional (5)	\$.40	\$.40	\$.40

<sup>\*</sup> In the event the Company wishes to provide greater wage increases to employees during the term of the collective agreement, this will be discussed with the Union.

10.04 An employee who disagrees with their performance rating must notify their Manager of the disagreement and the reasons for it in writing within 3 days of being advised of the results of the performance review. The Manager will meet with the employee to hear the employee's concerns. The Manager will either vary or confirm the rating within 7 days of the meeting.

If the employee is not satisfied with the Manager's decision, they may request a meeting with the Area Manager within 3 days of being informed of the decision. The Area Manager will meet with the employee. The Area Manager will either vary or confirm the rating within 7 days of the meeting.

10.05 The determination of an employee's performance rating and wage rate in accordance with article 10 shall not be the subject of a grievance.

- 10.06 2013 Transition to Pay for Performance: Per the above terms of this Article 10, and except as excluded in this Article 10.06, all employees will be eligible for a performance and wage rate review in 2013. An employee who received a wage rate increase in January to May, 2013 will have that rate increase factored into their June, 2013 increase. For example, if an employee is rated as Successful and it eligible for a \$.20 per hour increase, and had already received a \$.15 per hour increase in February, 2013, they would receive a \$.05 per hour increase in June, 2013. Employees hired March 1, 2013 or later are not eligible for a June, 2013 increase.
- 10.07 Employees in the Clerk classification shall receive \$3000 effective on ratification; \$2000 effective May 1, 2014; \$1000 effective May 1, 2015.

#### ARTICLE 11 – HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

- 11.01 The following paragraphs and sections are intended to define the normal hours of work and shall not be construed as a guarantee of hours of work per day or per week, or of days of work per week.
- 11.02 Except for part-time employees, the normal work week shall be forty (40) hours consisting of five (5) days, Sunday through Saturday. The Company proposes to monitor its ongoing requirements and, subject to any changes in economic circumstances and/or additional information which comes to hand, will endeavour to keep a minimum the occasions on which retail employees are required to work in excess of eight (8) hours in any one day.
- 11.03 For full time employees, overtime at the rate of time and one-half the employee's regular hourly rate shall be paid for all work performed in excess of forty (40) hours per week.
- 11.04 The Company agrees that it will post a weekly schedule of hours not later than Friday of the preceding week, which schedule shall show the hours to be worked on each day of the following week and which shall not contain split shifts.
- 11.05 Where an employee is required to work two (2) hours or more in excess of a six (6) hour shift, the Company will provide the employee with a meal allowance of \$5.00.
- 11.06 Minimum shift length for part-time employees shall be no less than three (3) hours per shift.

#### **ARTICLE 12 – VACATIONS WITH PAY**

12.01 All full-time employees who have acquired one years' seniority with the Company prior to April 30 in any year shall receive two weeks vacation with pay at a time or times convenient to the Company and shall receive as vacation pay, 4% of such employee's earnings with the Company, during the twelve months immediately preceding April 30 in that year.

- 12.02 All full-time employees who have acquired three years seniority with the Company prior to April 30 in any year shall receive three weeks vacation with pay at a time or times convenient to the Company and shall receive as vacation pay, 6% of such employee's earnings with the Company during the twelve months immediately preceding April 30 in the year
- 12.03 All full-time employees who have acquired eight years seniority with the Company prior to April 30 in any year shall receive four weeks vacation with pay at a time or times convenient to the Company and shall receive as vacation pay 8%, of such employee's earnings with the Company during the twelve months immediately preceding April 30 in that year.
- 12.04 All full-time employees who have acquired fifteen years seniority with the Company prior to April 30 in any year shall receive five weeks vacation with pay at a time or times convenient to the Company and shall receive as vacation pay, 10% of such employee's earnings, with the Company, during the twelve months immediately preceding April 30 in that year.
- 12.05 Employees shall notify the Company by April 15 in each year of their preferred vacation dates. It is the responsibility of the Company to schedule vacations, but in so doing, eligible employees shall be scheduled for a vacation of at least two weeks during the months of July or August. Conflict in preferred vacation shall be resolved on the basis of seniority. A vacation schedule shall be posted on or before May 15 in each year and the vacations therein set forth will be adhered to except in the case of emergency.
- 12.06 Part-time employees shall be paid vacation pay equal to 4% of earnings on each pay cheque. After twelve (12) months of continuous employment, part-time employees are entitled to two (2) weeks of vacation per year.
- 12.07 Full-time employees shall have the option of receiving their annual vacation pay during the first pay period in May each year or, if requested, when the vacation time is actually taken.

#### **ARTICLE 13 - HOLIDAYS**

13.01 The following holidays, regardless of when they fall, will be granted with pay to all full-time employees who have completed their probationary period:

New Year's DayJanuary 2Family DayGood FridayEaster MondayVictoria DayCanada DayCivic HolidayLabour DayThanksgiving DayRemembrance DayChristmas Day

**Boxing Day** 

Payment for such holidays shall be based on the employee's regular hourly rate multiplied by eight (8) hours. When any of the said holidays falls on other than a regular working day, then the Company may either designate some other day as the day upon

- which the said holiday will be celebrated, or pay the employees who qualify for the said holiday as though it had fallen on a regular working day, whichever the Company prefers.
- 13.02 In order to be entitled to payment for a public holiday, an employee must have worked the full scheduled working day immediately preceding the holiday and the full scheduled working day immediately following the holiday provided that an employee who fails to so work due to lay-off or illness, which is verified to the satisfaction of the Company, shall not thereby be disqualified from receiving holiday pay, provided the employee has worked on one or more of the five working days prior to the holiday and returns to work on any of the five working days following the holiday.
- 13.03 A full-time employee who works on one of the above named holidays shall receive payment at time and one-half for the hours actually worked in addition to receiving holiday pay. Part-time employees shall receive payment at time and one-half for the hours actually worked on public holidays as defined in Section 1 of the *Employment Standards Act, Ontario*.
- 13.04 Where one of the above-named public holiday's falls during an employee's approved vacation period, the employee shall be allowed an extra day's vacation with pay or an extra day's pay at the option of the Company.
- 13.05 Part-time employees will be paid 3% of earnings on each pay cheque in lieu of holiday pay.
- 13.06 In the event that the Federal or Provincial governments declare a holiday during the life of this Agreement, it shall be recognized.

#### **ARTICLE 14 - SENIORITY**

- 14.01 Seniority, as referred to in this Agreement, shall mean length of continuous service in the employ of the Company and shall be applied on a unit-wide basis as defined in clause 1.01.
- 14.02 An employee will be considered on probation for the first three months and will have no seniority rights during that period. After three months of service, the employee's seniority shall date back to the day on which employment began. The dismissal, lay-off or failure to recall after lay-off of a probationary employee shall not be the subject of a grievance.
- 14.03 Seniority lists will be revised each six months; a copy of the list will be posted in the stores and a copy given to the Union. If an employee does not make a written challenge to the position of his/her name on the seniority list within the first ten (10) working days from the date the employee's name first appears on a seniority list, then the employee shall be deemed to have the proper seniority standing.

14.04 Lay-offs, recalls from lay-offs, promotions to higher rated jobs in the bargaining unit, permanent transfers and demotions shall be based on seniority, provided that the senior employee is qualified, after a reasonable familiarization period, to do the work available.

It is agreed that part-time employees will be laid-off before full-time employees.

- 14.05 Seniority shall accumulate in the following circumstances only:
  - (a) when off work due to lay-off, sickness or accident in which case seniority will continue to accumulate for a period of time equal to six months or the length of the employee's seniority, whichever is the greater, but up to a maximum of one year;
  - (b) when off work due to personal leave of absence, then seniority will continue to accumulate for the first six calendar months of such leave:
  - (c) when absent on vacation with pay or on store holidays;
  - (d) when actually at work for the Company.
- 14.06 Seniority shall terminate and an employee shall cease to be employed by the Company when the employee:
  - (a) voluntarily quits his/her employment with the Company;
  - (b) is discharged and is not reinstated through the grievance procedure or arbitration;
  - (c) is laid-off work for a continuous period of twelve months in the case of an employee with less than five (5) years seniority, or twenty-four months in the case of an employee with five (5) or more years of seniority;
  - (d) fails to report to work within five (5) working days after being notified by the Company of recall by registered mail;
  - (e) fails to return to work upon the termination of an authorized leave of absence unless a satisfactory reason is given;
  - (f) accepts gainful employment while on a leave of absence without first obtaining the consent of the Company and the Union in writing.
- 14.07 It shall be the duty of each employee to notify the Company promptly of any change in address. Notice required by the Company shall be deemed to be given, if forwarded by registered mail to the employee at the last address of which the Company had notice.
- 14.08 Any permanent full-time vacancy in classifications covered by this Agreement shall be posted in each store for a period of five (5) working days, and any employee in the bargaining unit other than a part-time employee may make application for such vacancy. Vacancies shall be filled by the Company in accordance with the provisions of clause 14.04. Any vacancy can be filled at the discretion of the Company on a temporary basis.

In the event that an employee has been selected to fill such a permanent vacancy, then at any time within three (3) weeks after being assigned to such vacancy, the employee may elect to revert to his/her old classification and if he/she does so, then the employee shall be precluded from applying for any new vacancy for a period of six (6) calendar months. Only the original vacancy and the next two vacancies arising from the filling of the original vacancy shall be posted and all subsequent vacancies arising there from shall be filled at the discretion of the Company.

In the event that there are no applications for the vacancy or in the event that none of the applicants are selected, then the Company may either re-post the vacancy or hire persons from outside the bargaining unit, provided, however, that before hiring a person from outside the bargaining unit, the Company will give preference to part-time employees who have signified in writing to the Company that they desire employment as full-time employees. As between part-time employees, this preference shall be given having regard to the length of time they have been employed by the Company. In the event that a part-time employee is selected then he/she shall be considered on probation for a period of two months and upon completion of this probationary period, his/her name shall be placed on a seniority list and his/her seniority shall date back two months to the date on which the probationary period began.

- 14.09 The Company reserves the right to transfer the employees from location to location as it sees fit.
- 14.10 Except as provided in 14.08, none of the provisions of this Article 14 apply to part-time employees.

#### **ARTICLE 15 - GENERAL**

- 15.01 The Company may grant written leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority for an employee for legitimate personal reasons. When requested, such leave of absence shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 15.02 Leave of absence without pay, not to exceed in the aggregate ten days in any one calendar year, shall be granted to elected representatives of the Union to attend Union conventions and conferences provided that at least two weeks' notice in writing of any such request for leave is given, and provided further that the Company need not grant such leave to more than one employee in any one store or to more than two employees at any one time.
- 15.03 The Company agrees to permit the Union to post notices of meetings and other Union business and affairs on bulletin boards, in binders or in such locations as may be easily accessed by employees. It is agreed, however, that such notices must be first approved by the Company, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 15.04(a) When a death occurs in the immediate family of an employee who has acquired seniority, other than a part-time employee, the employee shall be granted not more than three (3) working days leave of absence from employment with pay. Such

leave of absence shall be for time necessarily lost from work and shall only be granted if the said employee uses the time for the purpose of attending the funeral of the deceased relative. Immediate family is defined as mother, father, brother, sister, wife, husband, son and daughter of the employee. Except for part-time employees and probationary employees, in the event of the death of an employee's grandmother, grandfather, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, or daughter-in-law, then the employee shall be granted one day's leave of absence from work with pay provided he/she uses such time for the purpose of attending the funeral.

- (b) Where a death occurs in the immediate family of a part-time employee, the part-time employee shall be granted up to three (3) working days (specified as the day before, day of and day following the funeral) leave of absence from employment with pay with respect to the hours of work for which they have already been scheduled for the purpose of attending the funeral of immediate family subject to the part-time employee providing proof of death satisfactory to the Company and the part-time employee only being entitled to time off with pay with respect to hours of work for which they have already been scheduled.
- 15.05 (a) Any employee, except a part-time employee, who is required to serve on a jury or is subpoenaed as a Crown witness shall be paid the difference between the amount paid for such service and their normal pay computed at the employee's normal hourly rate for hours lost from work up to forty in a week. An employee must notify the Company within two working days after the receipt of notice of selection for jury duty or subpoena. In order to be eligible for such payments, the employee must furnish a written statement from the proper public official showing the day and time served and the amount of pay received.
  - (b) Any part-time employee who is required to serve on a jury or is subpoenaed as a Crown witness shall be paid the difference between the amount paid for such service and their normal pay computed at the employee's normal hourly rate for hours lost from work up to twenty-four (24) hours per week. Part-time employees shall be compensated in accordance with the above by calculating average daily hours worked during the past 10 weeks. An employee must notify the Company within two (2) working dates after the receipt of notice of selection for jury duty or subpoena. In order to be eligible for such payments, the employee must furnish a written statement from the proper public official showing the day and time served and the amount of pay received. Such part-time employees are only entitled to jury duty/Crown witness pay with respect to days of work for which they have already been scheduled.
- 15.06 Upon negotiations for renewal of this Agreement, the Company agrees to pay one employee for time necessarily lost from work for the purpose of attending negotiating meetings with the Company.
- 15.07 Where the Company requires an employee to report to a store to answer an alarm, the employee shall receive a minimum of three (3) hours work (or 3 hours pay in lieu of such work at the employee's regular straight time rate of pay). Hours actually worked shall be paid at the applicable rate of pay (straight time or overtime as the case may be).

- 15.08 The parties agree to hold Labour-Management committee meetings semi-annually. Up to three (3) Union representatives shall be allowed to attend (unpaid).
- 15.09 The Company is prepared to reimburse employees up to 50% of the course tuition/fees upon successful completion of the Independent Wine Education Guild (IWEG) or George Brown College Wine Training Course. In order to be eligible for such payment, the employee must have completed at least 12 months of continuous service, have a current positive performance review (i.e. a "meets" or "exceeds" rating) and must receive prior written approval to take the course and receive reimbursement. Only one course will be eligible for reimbursement within a twelve month period. Reimbursement will be paid in five equal annual payments commencing upon the date of successful completion of the course and is payable only if the employee is actively employed with the Company at the time payment is due. Employees will be required to provide satisfactory proof of completion of the course in order to be eligible for any payments and the payout in each year cannot exceed 3% of the employee's gross income in the previous year.

#### ARTICLE 16 – EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

- 16.01 All permanent full-time employees will be covered by the employer's Weekly Indemnity, Health Care, Life Insurance, Accidental Death & Dismemberment, Vision Care, Long-Term Disability and Dental Care plans as outlined in the August 28, 1995, Memorandum of Agreement. The Employer will pay 100% of the premiums of these plans and will pay 100% of any applicable premiums for the Ontario Health Insurance Plan.
- 16.02 The Company will provide its Pension Plan to all eligible employees. Part-time employees may elect to join the Constellation Brands Canada Inc. hourly employees Pension Plan at their own option upon completion of two years of service.
- 16.03 The Employer agrees to reimburse all employees for fifty percent (50%) of the cost, to a maximum of \$110.00 per employee, of any medically approved Hepatitis A or Hepatitis B vaccine, subject to the employee providing the Employer with the documentation required by the Employer establishing that the vaccination has been completed and proof of payment

#### **ARTICLE 17 - UNDERSTANDING**

17.01 Attached hereto as Schedule "B" and Schedule "C" to this Agreement are statements of understandings reached between the parties during negotiations.

#### **ARTICLE 18 - CLOTHING**

18.01 Smocks will be provided at all store locations.

#### **ARTICLE 19 - TERMINATION**

19.01	.01 This Agreement shall be in force May 1, 2013, and shall continue in force until April 2016. Not more than ninety (90) days, and not less than thirty (30) days, before the d of its termination, either party shall furnish the other with any notice of termination o proposed revision of, this Agreement.		
SIGN	ED AT TORONTO this	day of	, 2013.
FOR '	THE UNION:		FOR THE COMPANY:
		_	

#### **SCHEDULE "B"**

#### STATEMENT OF UNDERSTANDING

- 1. "Management Trainees" who may from time to time be assigned to the stores covered by clause 1.01 of the Collective Agreement shall not be considered employees covered by the said Collective Agreement.
- 2. The Company undertakes that, during the life of the Agreement, there shall be no fewer than one regular part-time employee assigned to a store manager trainee program, which employee shall then be classified as in (1) above.
- 3. Employees will not be required to work alone at night in the following locations:

560 Queen Street West Wellesley Street @ Church Street

FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE COMPANY:

#### **SCHEDULE "C"**

### STATEMENT OF UNDERSTANDING RE: STORE STAFFING

<b>&gt;</b>	It is recognized that it is no longer economically feasible to have a full-time Union
	employee in each Wine Rack retail outlet.

- Store staffing in future will be dictated by the requirements of the store and will be done considering such factors as store location, type, volume, etc. Store locations may be staffed with part-time Union employees, and in some instances, with only a management employee.
- The Company agrees to grandfather the two (2) current full-time employees (Zammitt and Quigley) in full-time employment until such time as each employee retires, quits, is permanently laid-off, is discharged for cause or otherwise ceases employment. These current full-time employees shall not be replaced with new full-time employees upon their departure.
- The Company reserves the right to transfer full-time employees during the term of the Agreement to other locations within Metro. These transfers will be made to locations which will make optimum use of full-time employees.
- The Company's agreement to maintain the two (2) full-time employees above in Metro Toronto assumes that there will be no major regulatory changes during this period that seriously impact on the retail system. Should such a change occur, Letter of Intent # 2 in this Agreement shall apply.

FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE COMPANY:

#### **LETTER OF INTENT #1**

The parties agree that the Company policy respecting working after normal retirement age will continue in force unless:

1. A Provincial or Federal Government or a Court of competent Jurisdiction changes the law concerning retirement age, in which case an employee will be entitled to the most favourable treatment to the employee.

FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE COMPANY:

#### **LETTER OF INTENT # 2**

- 1. If during the term of the Agreement the closure of retail stores causes the lay-off or termination of employees within the bargaining unit, affected employees will be offered work on the basis of seniority in the remaining stores or any new stores or positions available in the Company's warehouse (if located within the scope of the Agreement) for which the Company considers them qualified.
- 2. After the contract has been in effect for one (1) year, the parties agree that the contract will terminate on 15 days notice from the Union or the Company in the event that the system of product distribution changes and necessitates lay-offs of more than 90 days or termination of any bargaining unit employees from the Company.
- 3. The Company will notify the Union and affected employees of any intended store closures at the time when the A.G.C.O. is notified of such closure.

FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE COMPANY:

#### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

#### RE: PART-TIME EMPLOYEE HOURS OF WORK

#### **Section A:**

This will confirm the understanding which the Company and Union reached at the 1995 negotiations respecting the number of hours worked by part-time employees in Wine Rack stores.

It is understood that, notwithstanding article 1.03, part time employees may be regularly scheduled for up to 40 hours per week and are eligible for overtime as per the *Employment Standards Act*. With respect to those part-time employees regularly working more than 24 hours per week, the Company undertakes that it will not artificially reduce the hours worked by these part-time employees to bring them back to 24 or less weekly hours worked.

The Union undertakes that it will not process any grievances to arbitration (or otherwise allege in any other proceeding) alleging that a part-time employee should be treated or reclassified as a full-time employee by virtue of the number of hours worked by such employee. Nor will the Union process any grievance alleging that sufficient work exists for the posting of further full-time vacancies beyond the two (2) guaranteed positions under this Agreement.

Without limiting Management's rights under article 3.01, the parties agree that when shifts become available in a given store as a result of vacancies which the Employer has not yet decided to fill, vacation, sick leave and/or leaves of absence, the Store Manager will first consider those employees of that store who have indicated their desire to work additional shifts.

Nothing in our Agreement, however, shall derogate from the Company's right to reduce the hours worked by any particular part-time employee where business requirements or conditions necessitate.

#### **Section B:**

The following provisions are applicable to employees with 24 or more months of service since the last date of hire.

It is not the Company's intention to reduce an individual's hours of work for disciplinary reasons. From time to time, however, business conditions or requirements necessitate a reduction in hours for some employees. If an employee's part-time hours are to be permanently reduced by more than 20% of his/her average hours worked in the 10-week period preceding the change date, the affected employee's Store Manager will advise the employee at least one week in advance. If the affected employee is not satisfied with the Manager's explanation, he/she may request a meeting with the Area Manager, together with the Union Steward, if so requested, to discuss the matter.

If the affected employee remains dissatisfied following the meeting with the Area Manager, he/she may request a meeting with the District Sales Manager (at which the Union Business Representative may be present (if so requested) to further discuss the matter.

If the matter is not satisfactorily resolved at the final meeting above, the Union may process a grievance on behalf of the employee to arbitration. The Company and Union agree that the arbitrator shall only have jurisdiction to declare whether the Company's decision was for disciplinary reasons or was for proper business reasons or was made in bad faith.

It is understood that the provisions of Section B do not apply in cases of complete lay-off of an employee, nor do they apply where the hours reduction could have been avoided but for the employee's refusal of hours offered or failure to work all of the hours offered.

FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE COMPANY:	

#### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

#### **RE: PART-TIME EMPLOYEES TRANSFERS**

September 12, 1997

Mr. J. Cameron Nelson President Brewery, General & Professional Workers Union

Dear Mr. Nelson:

This will confirm the understanding reached at bargaining with respect to the above.

On a semi-annual basis, employees may indicate in writing to their District Manager a maximum of six (6) specific stores to which they desire to transfer, should openings occur in one of these six (6) stores. These expressions of interest shall be filed between January 7 and 21 and June 7 and 21 in any calendar year, commencing in 2010.

The Company agrees to provide notification to stores covered by this Collective Agreement of new stores opening in Toronto in advance of their opening (Note – method notification may vary and includes methods such as notification by POS). Employees shall be entitled to express an interest in transferring to such new stores notwithstanding the fact that the openings occur outside of the January and June windows set out above.

When openings occur, the District Manager shall consider the qualified employees who have so indicated a desire to transfer to the subject stores. "Qualified" shall mean those employees who have a satisfactory work record (not merely discipline-free) and who possess their certificate from the Wine Council of Ontario.

If more than one qualified employee has indicated a desire to transfer to a particular store, length of sales experience with the Company shall also be the deciding factor in the District Manager's decision.

Yours truly,

Director of Human Resources Vincor International

#### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

**RE: HEALTH & SAFETY** 

Mr. J. Cameron Nelson President Brewery, General & Professional Workers' Union

Dear Mr. Nelson:

During bargaining, we discussed a number of issues related to the above topic.

It is the intention of the Company to establish more formal procedures for inspecting stores and to issue periodic reports.

Copies of these reports shall be given to an employee representative so designated by the Union, and if there are issues of concern arising out of the reports, the Union representative may request a meeting to discuss these issues with representatives of the Company. The Union Business Representative may be present at such meeting.

Yours truly,

Director of Human Resources Vincor International